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1st Round of Questions and Answers for NYCHA PACT Round 9 RFEI 
 

*The following responses represent a complete and final set of responses to questions received as of December 3, 
2020. Note that all Defined Terms relate to the definitions provided within the RFEI.  

 
1. Q: Is there a distinction on this round between small / large scale developers & contractors and 

which sites they can go after? 
• A: No, any developer on the pre-qualified list is eligible to submit proposals for any of the 

sites. We encourage Project Teams to form partnerships with a diverse group of partners.  
 
2. Q: I am an MWBE developer and am not yet pre-qualified. Can I partner with a pre-qualified entity 

on this submission? 
• A: No, not for a Round 9 submission. Developers who want to submit a proposal as part of a 

project team for Round 9 must be pre-qualified as per the Request for Qualifications issued 
in January 2020. NYCHA will open the pre-qualified list with another RFQ in the coming 
weeks and should you be added to the pre-qualified list, you will be eligible to apply for the 
next PACT round of projects. 

 
3. Q: Is the Developer Fee in Exhibit F (the underwriting template) calculating correctly?  

• A: The developer fee calculation should be 10% of total hard and soft costs excluding the 
Social Service Reserve, Capitalized Operating Reserve, and the Additional Operational 
Reserve (if applicable). The previous pro forma incorrectly subtracted the acquisition 
payment from the developer fee. The new developer fee formula is updated in the new pro 
formas now posted on NYCHA’s PACT Procurement Site.   

 
4. Q: Please confirm unit mix and rents. Pre-submission conference and RFP state 90% of units will 

be Section 18 rents, but underwriting templates show 25% Section 18. 
• A: You should underwrite to 90% of the units at Section 18 rents, and 10% at RAD rents, 

regardless of the base setting of the Underwriting Templates.  
 

5. Q: The RFEI didn’t have the exhibits attached. Where can they be found? 
• A: The exhibits are located on NYCHA’s PACT Procurement Website where the RFEI is posted 

(link here: https://eshare.nycha.info/sites/pact/SitePages/Home.aspx). 
 

https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/nycha/downloads/pdf/200115_PACT_Non-SSP_Pre-Qualified_Partners_RFQ_94802_FINAL.pdf
https://eshare.nycha.info/sites/pact/SitePages/Home.aspx


6. Q: As it relates to COVID, we have seen from HPD & HCR a desire to implement WiFi or broadband 
access into buildings. Has NYCHA considered any rent adjustments which could allow developers 
to provide access to residents? 

• A: There are details regarding WiFi/broadband access in the RFEI in Section IV(B)(23). Tenant 
rent levels are mandated by HUD and as such cannot be adjusted to compensate for 
additional services. 

 
7. Q: Does NYCHA consider the $40 million of Samuel debt to be paid in addition to other NYCHA 

requirements or will it be considered as an offset against other equity requirements. As an 
alternative, could it be subordinated to other financial requirements? 

• A: This will need to be finalized as part of the closing process. However, the initial guidance 
is that applicants should present optionality in their underwriting for (1) the project’s 
financial sources to pay off this debt, or (2) for NYCHA to subordinate to other financial 
requirements. This will not necessarily need to be funded by developer equity.  
 

8. Q: Can prequalified developers add non-prequalified MWBE developers to their team? 
• A: See response to Question #2; all developers for Round 9 need to pre-qualified.  

 
9. Q: Could you please repeat the requirement for collaborating with DEP with regards to the Reid 

Apartments site? 
• A: The project is designated to receive green infrastructure upgrades that will require 

coordination between NYCHA, DEP, and the designated applicant. Specific detail on the 
green infrastructure upgrades can be found within the Project Profile in the RFEI and 
Exhibits.  

 
10. Q: Can you provide lists of qualified large- and small-scale developers, as well as contractors and 

property managers, with CONTACT INFORMATION, to facilitate organization of teams as soon as 
possible? 

• A: A list of every team who attended the pre-submission conference has been posted on the 
Document Library on the PACT Procurement Site. If you have any specific requests for 
contact information, we can ask the relevant firm for permission to connect them with you. 
The pre-qualified lists are on NYCHA’s PACT website (link here: pact-procurement (nyc.gov). 

 
11. Q: Where can we find the property ranking form? 

• A: This will be added to the PACT Procurement Site in December when we release answers 
to the first Q&A. We will send a notification out to all PACT Partners when the reference 
form has been posted.  

 
12. Q: I understand that Developers who want to participate must be pre-qualified by NYCHA. Would 

a Property Manager partner also have to be pre-qualified by NYCHA? 
• A: Generally, yes. However, if an applicant is working with an MWBE or Nonprofit 

Developer, NYCHA will consider a General Contractor or Property Manager that is not 
mentioned on the pre-qualified list. Please demonstrate why it was deemed necessary to 
select an entity that is not on the list. Working with a non-pre-qualified entity will be looked 
upon more favorably if the General Contractor or Property Manager is also an MWBE. 

 

https://www1.nyc.gov/site/nycha/about/pact/procurement.page


13. Q: How many units of Samuel City are tax credit units and what year of tax credit compliance are 
they in? 

• A: The entire Samuel City property is part of the prior tax credit transaction. The tax credit 
compliance period is through 2025.  
 

14. Q: Will the recording of this meeting be shared along with the slides?  
• A: Yes, see the PACT Procurement Site for the link. 

 
15. Q: Security was mentioned to be included in the response. Do you envision adding this as an 

operating line item or only cameras, etc., in the capital? The financing/underwriting seems to 
require a fixed O and M budget by HDC?  

• A: Security should be included as an operating line item in addition to capital. We defer to 
your teams on estimating the funding required for the scope of security services delineated 
in Section IV(B)(25). Comprehensive security proposals will be reviewed favorably, as safety 
and security are a high priority for residents. 

 
16. Q: Will everyone who sends in a ranking be selected to submit a response to one of the sites? 

• A: Not necessarily. There will be a max of 4 Project Teams designated as Eligible Applicants 
to submit a Proposal for each site.  

 
17. Q: Will you consider teams with multiple property managers and multiple general contractors? 

• A: Yes. 
 
18. Q: Can the PACT partners get a copy of this presentation? 

• A: Yes, see the link within the Exhibit Library on the PACT Procurement Site.  
 
19. Q: Please clarify the number of approved applicants:  Is it 4 total teams being approved or 4 per 

site? 
• A: Correct, there will be a maximum of 4 Project Teams designated as Eligible Applicants to 

submit a proposal for each site. This means that for the 3 sites within Round 9, NYCHA will 
be selecting up to 12 Project Teams to submit proposals.  
 

20. Q: Perhaps I missed it, but have you anywhere made distinction between large- and small-scale 
developers as to who is qualified for this RFEI? 

• A: No, there is not a distinction between large- and small-scale sites within the Round 9 RFEI 
site list. Thus, there is no site that is designated specifically for one or the other classification 
or pre-qualified partner.  

 
21. Q: Will social service providers be paired with the development team after the final teams have 

been selected for each site? 
• A: Yes, we will provide each selected Project Team with a short list of potential Social 

Service Providers for them to interview, discuss with tenant leadership, and ultimately 
integrate into their Project Team.  

 
22. Q: Is secondary subsidy financing available from the City? 

https://eshare.nycha.info/sites/pact/SitePages/Home.aspx
https://eshare.nycha.info/sites/pact/SitePages/Home.aspx


• A: There will not be secondary subsidy financing available from either HPD or HDC. Further, 
no LIHTC equity sources will be considered for the PACT conversions. Proposals that limit 
the need for additional subsidy from NYCHA will be reviewed favorably.  

 
23. Q: Does NYCHA provide historical expenses for RFEI sites?  

• A: We do not provide historical expenses for RFEI sites prior to final selection. The cost 
allocation for NYCHA’s central office costs do not translate to each development in a way we 
think instructive. Instead, we encourage you to defer to the expense guidance within the 
Underwriting Guidelines and the Underwriting Template for each site.  
 

24. Q: To confirm this request is for new developer and not for social services agencies that currently 
exist within NYCHA, the latter of which would not need to apply for this unless we are expanding 
to the new areas? 

• A: Confirmed; this RFEI is not for social service agencies.  
 
25. Q: How will decarbonization strategies that increase capital expenses be treated in the 

evaluation? 
• A: We ask that you present a base scope that addresses the PNA. Then, within the scope of 

work, we have set out an additional column for teams to identify proposed scope repairs 
that increase capital expenditures above that base scope (these could be decarbonization 
strategies, urban design, or higher quality fixtures). We ask that you demonstrate the return 
to NYCHA based on the base scope, as well as with the additional scope items considered. 

 
26. Q: Does the full 20-year capital need have to be fully funded in the initial rehab scope? 

• A: Yes, the full PNA must be addressed in the initial rehab scope. This is a HUD requirement 
of the RAD program. 

 
27. Q: If not addressed later, can you briefly explain why LIHTCs are no longer an eligible source for 

this round? 
• A: We are structuring future PACT deals without LIHTCs and volume cap and instead relying 

on third-party equity to fill any budget gaps, as these resources are needed to support 
additional affordable housing efforts throughout the city. Further, PACT conversions receive 
substantial subsidy in the form of Section 8 rental vouchers. Please see the RFEI for more 
information regarding equity requirements. 

 
28. Q: Will the scope from the Samuel City rehab from 10-15 years ago be released? 

• A: We encourage all Partners to utilize the Scope of Work templates provided, including the 
PNA conducted in 2017, which should reflect any rehabilitation that did not yet occur..  
 

29. Q: Can you state again where the underwriting templates are found? 
• A: The Underwriting Templates are in the Exhibit Library, on the PACT Procurement Site. 

They are Exhibit F.  
 
30. Q: Do MWBE firms need to have NY certifications? 

• A: No, but MWBE firms with NY certification will be looked upon favorably. If a firm does not 
have a NY certification, please demonstrate the certifications the firm does have for 
NYCHA’s evaluation.  

https://eshare.nycha.info/sites/pact/SitePages/Home.aspx


 
31. Q: To better understand the scope of work for the various sites, will you release the historical 

plans (architectural, plumbing, electric etc) for the RFEI locations before December 16, 2020?  
• A: We do not plan to release any additional historical plans for the RFEI locations in advance 

of December 16, 2020. Additional plans will be provided to the Eligible Applicants in advance 
of proposal submission.  

 
32. Q: Please provide information about the heating systems at the sites e.g. two pipe steam etc. 

• A: See table below: 
 

Development Electric 
Metering 

Existing 
Heating 
System 

Distribution Type Fuel Type 

EDENWALD 2 - Master 1 - Steam Low-pressure steam Dual fuel 
SAMUEL (CITY) 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
104-14 TAPSCOTT STREET 2 - Master 1 - Steam Low-pressure steam Dual fuel 
FENIMORE-LEFFERTS 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
LENOX ROAD-ROCKAWAY 
PARKWAY 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
RALPH AVENUE REHAB 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
REID APARTMENTS 2 - Master 1 - Steam Low-pressure steam Dual fuel 
RUTLAND TOWERS 2 - Master 1 - Steam Low-pressure steam Straight Oil 
SUTTER AVENUE-UNION 
STREET 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
TAPSCOTT STREET REHAB 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
CROWN HEIGHTS 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
HOWARD AVENUE 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
HOWARD AVENUE-PARK 
PLACE 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
OCEAN HILL-BROWNSVILLE 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
PARK ROCK REHAB 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
STERLING PLACE REHABS 
(SAINT JOHNS-STERLING) 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 
STERLING PLACE REHABS 
(STERLING-BUFFALO) 0 - Direct 0 - Hydronic Heating hot water Firm gas 

 
 
33. Q: Please provide information about meter set-ups at the various locations e.g. master meter etc. 

• A: Please see response for Question 32. 
 

34. Q: Which boiler systems are dual fuel?   
• A: Please see response for Question 32. 

 
35. Q: Are there underground storage tanks at the sites? 

• A: Yes, there are active storage tanks at Edenwald and Reid Apartments. Additional storage 
tanks may be identified by NYCHA or the selected development team through further due 
diligence.  



 
36. Q: Is there a list of the UFAS units in the Frederick Samuel portfolio? 

• A: There are currently no UFAS units documented for the Frederick Samuel portfolio 
 

37. Q: Are there any roof warranties available for any of the roofs on the Frederick Samuel portfolio 
buildings? 

• A: There are no documented roof warranties available for the Frederick Samuel portfolio. 
 
38. Q: What's the projected timing on the release of the Obsolescence Reports (currently not part of 

Exhibit A)? 
• A: Obsolescence reports will be provided in draft form to selected development teams upon 

designation, assuming inspections are able to continue amid changing conditions with the 
COVID-19 health crisis. We encourage all applicants to utilize the Scope of Work templates 
provided.   

 
39. Q: Samuel City has a proportionately high Mechanical PNA scope, is there a reason for this? 

• A:  We have requested additional detail and will aim to respond during the 2nd Q&A release.  
 
40. Q: Local Law 191 is not mentioned in the RFEI. What if any guidance can NYCHA or the City of New 

York provide in relation to funding additional cost related to compliance that will go into effect in 
2021?  Can we show Local Law 191 requirements as a separate budget?  

• A: Conversions are subject to all Local Laws. We have highlighted some specific laws in the 
RFEI where we wanted to provide specific additional guidance; however, all Local Laws apply 
unless otherwise explicitly mentioned.  

 

41. Q: In our selection response what information do you require about a potential pre-qualified JV 
and how (in what manner) do we provide it to you? 

• A: After you submit your ranked preference, please provide this information in email format 
to pact.partners@nycha.nyc.gov. 

 
42. Q: Should Tenant Participating Activities Funding and NYCHA Admin Fee be included in the $9,600 

per DU underwritten operating expense? 
• A: No, these are incremental fees that should be underwritten as separate line items.  

 
43. Q: Please confirm that the social service plan is not part of the RFEI submission, and will be 

developed in conjunction with the assigned social service provider post award. 
• A: Project Teams should plan to provide a preliminary Social Service Plan and Budget within 

their RFEI submissions. Upon selection, this plan will then be further developed in consult 
with tenant leadership and a Social Service Provider.  

 
44. Q: Are tenants expected to contribute toward a WifF plan? 

• A: Proposals that provide WiFi without tenant contributions will be reviewed favorably. 
Internet plans should prioritize equity, affordability, performance and privacy.  

 

mailto:pact.partners@nycha.nyc.gov


45. Q: Does NYCHA prefer any of the five "Meaningful Role" qualifications stated in the RFEI, or all 
they all treated equally? For example, will NYCHA give higher preference to a not for profit with at 
least 30% overall equity ownership vs. serving as lead developer on at least 200 units? 

• A: The evaluation will be fact-specific; there is no qualification on its face more significant 
than the others. NYCHA encourages teams to meet as many of these qualifications as 
possible, and to build a meaningful role into your joint venture agreements in additional 
ways, as applicable.  

 
46. Q: Does NYCHA prefer a larger upfront acquisition payment vs. ongoing payments towards seller 

note? 
• A: NYCHA prefers first and foremost to minimize the need for subsidy and meet the full 

scope of capital needs for each development. If there are funds remaining thereafter, 
NYCHA would encourage respondents to focus returns into a larger upfront acquisition 
payment. However, we encourage teams to provide dynamic proposals in which NYCHA can 
understand the economics of prioritizing an acquisition payment or ongoing contribution 
towards the seller note.  

 

47. Q: The RFEI states that “if no City subsidy is required to finance the Project, Applicant and/or 
third-party “Preservation” equity may be required.” What is the minimum required % of equity? Is 
there any minimum developer equity? 

• A: Competitive Developer Equity proposals will propose an equity contribution close to 10% 
of the total development cost, less existing debt, and reserves. While this is not a strict 
requirement in the event that no City subsidy is required, it should be considered the target.  

 
48. Q: Is there any guidance on estimated NYCHA predevelopment costs that can be included in 

underwriting? 
• A: No, there is not additional guidance that can be provided at this time on estimated 

NYCHA predevelopment costs.  
 
49. Q: Will a unit mix breakdown by building, preferably in excel, be provided? 

• A: No, NYCHA is not planning to provide a unit mix breakdown by building at this time. 
Please use the unit mixes provided within the Underwriting Templates as a starting point for 
your initial proposal.  

 
50. Q: Are there annual residential property taxes anticipated for the Frederick Samuel portfolio? 

• A: No, not for residential components of any of the developments.  
 
51. Q: Should we assume that the NYCHA debt will be assumed by the new owner? 

• A: It should be assumed that NYCHA debt will be assumed by the new owners, though it can 
also be assumed that the NYCHA debt will be subordinate to any other debt. If this is not 
feasible without creating a need for additional subsidy, NYCHA will view any proposal to 
forgive existing NYCHA debt as a request for subsidy to the Project Proposal. 

 
52. Q: Are there any plans available for the Frederick Samuel portfolio? 

• A: No, there are no additional plans available at this time.  
 



53. Q: After developers submit the ranking form, is it possible that development teams will be asked 
to submit for more than one project? Can developers express equal interest in two 
developments? 

• A: As currently envisioned, Project Teams will not be asked to submit for more than one 
project. NYCHA may adjust this at its discretion. Developers cannot express interest in two 
developments equally, and can only be members of one Project Team. However, General 
Contractors and Property Managers are eligible to join more than one Project Team.  

 
54. Q: The pre-submission conference put a lot of weight on partnering with a MWBE or non-profit; 

however, the RFEI itself provides little to no guidance on how these JV's should be structured.  
Can you please provide details on the preferred partner structures? 

• A: This is intentional – Project Teams should structure their JVs as they see fit, subject to the 
general guidance in the RFEI. See Section IV(G)(5) for guidance on structuring these JVs. 
Specifically, Project Teams should strive to meet as many of the elements of the proposed 
‘Meaningful Role’ guidance as can be achieved within the constraints of your respective 
partnership.  

 
55. Q: The RFEI states that "Project Teams may consist of one entity per category (e.g., Developer, 

Property manager, and General Contractor), or joint ventures comprised of multiple Pre-Qualified 
Partners per category."  Does this mean we should exclude a JV with a MWBE or non-profit in in 
our Preference Ranking Form?   

• A: No, this means that you can either include one of each category, or you may opt to 
include more than one of each. If you plan to include an MWBE or Nonprofit in your Project 
Team, you should plan to do so in advance of submitting your Preference Ranking form, as 
NYCHA will view these joint ventures favorably.  

 
56. Q: Does NYCHA currently have a credit-building program that helps residents to building their 

credit? If so, will those programs continue after conversion? 
• A: No, NYCHA does not currently have a program in place. For a reference point, please 

reference the Pilot program launched out of the NYC Comptroller’s office (more detail here: 
Comptroller Stringer Announces NYC’s First “Making Rent Count” Pilot Program : Office of 
the New York City Comptroller Scott M. Stringer). 

 
57. Q: Can a team include a prequalified GC and non-prequalified GC(s), either under distinct 

contracts with the Owner or through a singular JV contract with the Owner? 
• A: Prequalified GCs may be included either through a contract or as part of a JV. Non-

prequalified GCs may only be included through a contractual relationship. They may not be 
part of the JV. See Section IV(g)(5) on page 38 of the RFEI for guidance on contracting with a 
non-prequalified GC.  

https://comptroller.nyc.gov/newsroom/press-releases/comptroller-stringer-announces-nycs-first-making-rent-count-pilot-program/
https://comptroller.nyc.gov/newsroom/press-releases/comptroller-stringer-announces-nycs-first-making-rent-count-pilot-program/

